

### Review

# Diabetes and acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections



### Marco Falcone<sup>a,\*</sup>, Juris J Meier<sup>b</sup>, Maria Giulia Marini<sup>c</sup>, Riccardo Caccialanza<sup>d</sup>, José María Aguado<sup>e</sup>, Stefano Del Prato<sup>f</sup>, Francesco Menichetti<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Infectious Diseases Unit, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

<sup>b</sup> Diabetes-Zentrum Bochum/Hattingen, Katholisches Klinikum Bochum, Bochum, Germany

<sup>c</sup> Area Sanità e Salute di Fondazione ISTUD, via Paolo Lomazzo 19, 20124, Milan, Italy

<sup>d</sup> Clinical Nutrition and Dietetics Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy

<sup>e</sup> Unit of Infectious Diseases, Hospital Universitario "12 de Octubre", Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Hospital "12 de Octubre" (imas12), Madrid, Spain

<sup>f</sup>Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Section of Metabolic Diseases and Diabetes, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

#### A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 24 December 2020 Received in revised form 9 February 2021 Accepted 18 February 2021 Available online 5 March 2021

Keywords:

Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections Diabetes mellitus Multidrug-resistance Vasculopathy Neuropathy Soft tissue infections

#### SUMMARY

Acute bacterial skin and skin structures infections (ABSSSIs) are associated with high morbidity, costs and mortality in patients with diabetes mellitus. Their appropriate management should include several figures and a well-organized approach. This review aims to highlight the interplay between diabetes and ABSSSIs and bring out the unmet clinical needs in this area. Pathogenetic mechanisms underlying the increased risk of ABSSSIs in diabetes mellitus are multifactorial: high glucose levels play a crucial pathogenetic role in the tissue damage and delayed clinical cure. Moreover, the presence of diabetes complications (neuropathy, vasculopathy) further complicates the management of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes. Multidrug resistance organisms should be considered in this population based on patient risk factors and local epidemiology and etiological diagnosis should be obtained whenever possible. Moreover, drug-drug interactions and drug-related adverse events (such as nephrotoxicity) should be considered in the choice of antibiotic therapy. Reducing unnecessary hospitalizations and prolonged length of hospital stay is of primary importance now, more than ever. To achieve these objectives, a better knowledge of the interplay between acute and chronic hyperglycemia, multidrug resistant etiology, and short and long-term outcome is needed. Of importance, a multidisciplinary approach is crucial to achieve full recovery of these patients.

© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

E-mail address: marco.falcone@unipi.it (M. Falcone).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2021.108732

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Pisana, University of Pisa, Via Paradisa, 2, 56124 Pisa, PI, Italy.

<sup>0168-8227/© 2021</sup> The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V.

This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Epidemiology	2
3.	Pathogenetic mechanisms of ABSSSI in diabetes mellitus	2
4.	Etiology and multidrug Resistance: An evolving issue	3
5.	Risk factors for ABSSSI in patients with diabetes mellitus	4
6.	The challenging management of ABSSSI in patients with diabetes mellitus	4
7.	The role of narrative medicine in treating ABSSSI in patients with diabetes mellitus	4
8.	Unmet clinical needs in ABSSSI in patients with diabetes mellitus	7
9.	Conclusions	7
	Declaration of Competing Interest.	7
	Acknowledgments	8
	Funding details	8
	References	8

### 1. Introduction

Acute bacterial skin and skin structures infections (ABSSSIs) are leading causes of morbidity and mortality in patients with diabetes mellitus [1] and are associated with significant health care costs and impaired quality of life [2]. The diagnoses of skin infections directly in the Emergency Department (ED) rose up by nearly 3-times during the last years [3]. Particular populations, including patients with diabetes mellitus, require more frequently hospitalization and advanced care for ABSSSIs and are more prone to have systemic complications and worse outcome [4].

In general, skin infections in patients with diabetes include a wide heterogeneous spectrum of conditions ranging from cellulitis to more complicated infections, such as deep tissue infections and diabetic foot infections (DFIs). The introduction of the new definition of ABSSSIs aimed to better standardize the diagnosis of skin infections and making populations included in clinical studies more homogeneous [5]. Since DFIs are usually characterized by microbiological heterogeneity and may represent a confounding factor in the assessment of outcome in clinical trials, ABSSSIs do not include DFIs [6]. According to new FDA definition, clinical studies should focus on ABSSSIs, including cellulitis/erysipelas, wound infections and major cutaneous abscesses (2013 FDA guidelines) while DFIs should be investigated as a distinctive disease entity [7,8]. Considering that ABSSSIs have peculiar features in patients with diabetes mellitus, a better knowledge of these infectionsa is needed.

This review is, therefore, intended to highlight the interplay occurring between diabetes and ABSSSIs and bring out the unmet clinical needs in this area.

### 2. Epidemiology

Several studies showed that patients with diabetes are more likely to develop skin infections compared to those without diabetes [9]. A retrospective study conducted in US from 2005 to 2010 showed that abscesses, cellulitis, and other skin infections were more frequent in patients with diabetes mellitus [10]. Moreover, patients with diabetes mellitus had a fourfold risk of skin complications compared to non diabetic patients [10]. A recent cohort study including more than 60,000 patients with diabetes and age-sex-region-matched non-diabetes controls showed that patients with diabetes mellitus had higher risk of skin infections (cellulitis and others) compared to controls [8]. Patients with diabetes also had a greater risk of intensive care unit (ICU) admission and death [8]. Moreover, diabetic patients are at high risk of surgical site infections (SSI), especially those who undergo lower extremity bypass surgery [11] as well as many other surgical procedures [12].

Epidemiological studies in patients with diabetes have seldom estimated the incidence of skin infections according to the more recent ABSSSI definition. As such, they often report a heterogenous group of skin infections, including several distinct entities. Therefore, proper data about the incidence and outcomes of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes is still limited. Closing this knowledge gap is particularly important, considering that almost one third of skin infections in patients with diabetes occurred at locations other than foot [13].

## 3. Pathogenetic mechanisms of ABSSSI in diabetes mellitus

Pathogenetic mechanisms underlying the increased risk of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes are complex and multifactorial. A major role in increasing such risk is played by poor glycemic control [14]. High glucose levels are associated with tissue damage via irreversible non-enzymatic glycation of proteins [15], impairment of the immune response [16] and generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that play a critical physiological role for regulating homeostatic cellular functions [17].

In spite of this, studies on the role of hyperglycemia in the specific context of ABSSSI remain scanty.

It is known that glucosuria either as a consequence of hyperglycemia or due to the use of SGLT-2 inhibitors may favor urinary tract and genital infections. Whether increased glucose concentration in the interstitial space of skin tissues exerts a similar predisposing risk of ABSSSIs is currently unknown. Delayed and inefficient wound healing in patients with diabetes is causally linked to hyperglycemia-induced damage. High glucose levels in the interstitial fluid alter hyaluronan in the skin microvessels and favor loss of the glycocalyx on the endothelial cells leading to poor wound healing [18]. Animal models showed that skin barrier dysfunction and impaired proliferation/differentiation process of keratinocytes are directly attributable to hyperglycemia [19]. High glucose levels induce advanced glycation end (AGEs) products formation and deposition in the skin of patients with diabetes. AGEs may affect fibroblast activity, slow turnover rate of macromolecular collagen in extracellular matrix, increase oxidant stress and tissue inflammation [20]. Several studies showed that the levels of skin AGEs, measured both by biopsy and skin autofluorescence, predict the progression of microvascular complications and cardiovascular mortality in patients with diabetes [21,22], although the role of skin AGEs accumulation in favoring skin infections remains to be determined.

On the contrary, glycemic control is key for preventing infections, accelerating recovery and reducing the risk of poor outcome [23,24] in ABSSSIs as well.

Several aspects about the impact of hyperglycemia on risk of ABSSSIs remain under-investigated. For instance, little is known about the relative role of acute and chronic hyperglycemia. Since prior exposure to chronic hyperglycemia may generate a negative "metabolic memory" and activate a sequence of events leading to the development of complications of diabetes, achieving optimal glucose control from the time of diabetes diagnosis is critical for sustained prevention of complications [25]. Although, not directly investigated, it is likely this applies to the risk of skin infections as well. ABSSSIs may be the first manifestation of diabetes and occur at the time of poor glycemic control and studies are needed to evaluate the impact of optimal and durable glucose control on prevention and recovery of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes.

Hyperglycemia is probably the most important pathogenetic factor responsible for the increased risk of infection. Other factors include neuropathy and vascular damage that contribute to the enhanced risk of skin infections and to greater severity of ABSSSIs. Neuropathy increases the infectious risk by the impairment of leucocyte migration in denervated tissues. Peripheral arterial disease reduces vascular flow, promoting bacterial replication and reducing the chances of antibiotic penetration at the site of infection. Immune system is also weakened in patients with diabetes mellitus: the decreased production of neuropeptides (such as substance P and nerve growth factor) affects the immune cell chemotaxis, opsonization and intracellular bacterial killing, delaying wound healing and enhancing the risk of bacterial infection [26].

### Etiology and multidrug Resistance: An evolving issue

Etiology of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes may be different from those observed in the population without diabetes. Two aspects about the peculiarity of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes should be highlighted: the likelihood of atypical infections and atypical clinical presentation, and the risk of multidrug resistance (MDR).

Streptococcal and Fournier's gangrene, rhino-cerebral mucormycosis, synergistic necrotizing cellulitis with severe

muscular involvement are serious infections that typically occur in patients with diabetes mellitus [26,27]. A prompt recognition of these clinical entities is required to avoid patient fatal outcome.

During the last decades, a significant increase in the prevalence of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) has been detected among hospitalized patients with diabetes with skin infections [13]. Of note, the proportion of MRSA isolates increased for both non-foot and foot sites, highlighting the need of awareness of MDR etiology in patients with diabetes mellitus with ABSSSIs. Compared to DFIs, non-foot infections are more likely to be caused by MRSA but less likely to have polymicrobial isolates without MRSA [13].

MRSA is not a challenge only for hospitalized patients. Community-acquired MRSA (CA-MRSA) is a predominant cause of purulent ABSSSIs and is particularly challenging because it may carry genes encoding the Panton-Valentine leucocidin associated with tissue necrosis and more severe disease presentation [28,29]. The prompt identification of patients presenting at ED with ABSSSIs at highest risk of CA-MRSA is crucial to prompt initiation of appropriate therapy. The nasal carriage status may be useful to predict MRSA etiology in patients with ABSSSIs. Diabetes is already included in a bedside risk score for MRSA for patients hospitalized with acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections [30]. In patients affected by diabetes, the MRSA colonization rate is about 9%, ranging from 2% in those living in the community to 19% in those attending hemodialytic centers [31]. Although no risk score for MRSA has been specifically validated in patients affected by diabetes admitted to ED with ABSSSIs, the identification of these patients may have important clinical implications. First, in a considerable proportion of patients with non-foot skin infections, the etiological diagnosis remains unavailable. Thus, predicting MRSA etiology on the basis of risk factors for MRSA may help guiding antibiotic therapy. Second, the management of patients with diabetes and ABSSSI due to MRSA may be challenging particularly at the time of the Covid-19 pandemic. Identification of patients at high risk of MRSA etiology, may favor optimal allocation of new antibiotics, such as long-acting drugs, as dalbavancin, that may reduce hospitalization and allow outpatient management with ABSSSIs [32].

In hospitalized patients with diabetes and severe infections such and necrotizing fasciitis, major abscesses or surgical site infections, there is an increasing and worrying detection of Gram-negative bacilli (GNB). In a recent study, the vast majority of patients affected by diabetes with bloodstream infections from a skin source had a non-foot infection and about one third of the infections was caused by GNB (Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas aeruginosa) [33]. Of importance, infection due to GNB was the only factor independently associated with mortality [33]. The spread of MDR-GNB in the hospital setting represents an urgent public health threat and increases morbidity and mortality, especially in patients with multiple comorbidities [34-36]. There are no studies investigating the incidence of and risk factors for MDR-GNB etiology of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes. Although DFIs are not included in the definition of ABSSSI, it should be mentioned that the risk of MDR organisms is particularly relevant in patients with DFI [37,38]. Compared to non-diabetic patients with foot infections, those with DFI have high rate of resistant Acinetobacter, Bacillus, and Citrobacter. Carbapenem-resistance is also higher in patients with DFI compared to non-DFI [37].

## 5. Risk factors for ABSSSI in patients with diabetes mellitus

Several factors affect risk and outcome of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes mellitus (Fig. 1). Beyond hyperglycemia, malnutrition, vascular damage, nephropathy and decreased compliance all contribute increasing the risk of ABSSSI, of failure to treatment and poor outcome. Poor nutritional status, low serum albumin concentrations and depletion of micronutrient, including vitamin D, might influence negatively the healing process and increase the risk of poor outcome in these patients [39]. Interestingly, some data indicate that supplementation of micronutrients might increase immune function and reduce the incidence of common infections in outpatients with Type 2 diabetes [40].

### 6. The challenging management of ABSSSI in patients with diabetes mellitus

The high clinical complexity of patients with diabetes and non-foot skin infections represents a challenge for clinicians. Fig. 2 shows a proposed algorithm for the management of these patients. Compared to DFIs, non-foot skin infections seem to occur more frequently in patients with multiple comorbidities. In a large study of patients with diabetes and skin infections, those with non-foot skin infections had more frequently history of congestive heart failure, chronic lung disease and chronic renal disease [13]. Non-foot location was a factor independently associated with mortality [13]. Thus, when treating patients affected by diabetes with ABSS-SIs, clinicians should take into account all conditions that may influence the clinical course. The presence of nephropathy had multiple consequences on the management of these patients. Renal clearance affects serum levels of several antibiotics. On one hand, altered renal clearance may reduce the possibility to achieve optimal pharmacokinetic targets [41,42]; on the other hand, over-exposures related to reduced clearance of the drug may result in increased risk of adverse events [43]. Therapeutic drug monitoring of antibiotics may be useful and should be implemented, especially for treating patients with severe infections.

Comorbidities and polypharmacy further complicate the management of ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes. Drugdrug interactions may result in altered efficacy of antibiotics or increased risk of adverse events. Table 1 summarizes the main potential adverse events and drug-drug interactions between anti-Gram-positive antibiotics commonly used to treat ABSSSI and antidiabetic agents. Some antibiotics, such as vancomycin and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, are associated with high risk of nephrotoxicity and may have a too little therapeutic window in patients with diabetes. Linezolid may induce thrombocytopenia and caution should be paid in patients taking selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors because of the risk of serotonin syndrome. Finally, some antibiotics, such as linezolid and fluoroquinolones, can interact with glucose-lowering drugs; their administration may result in hyper- or hypoglycemia and careful monitoring of blood glucose is recommended.

The occurrence of an ABSSSI in a patient with diabetes mellitus may also cause deterioration of glycemic control, that, in turn, affects negatively the clinical outcome of infection. The relationship between hyperglycemia and infection appears to be bidirectional and interdependent. Several studies examined the association between high blood glucose levels and risk of infection [44,45], but infection itself may act as a prominent stress condition, increasing the risk of low glucose control. Infectious episodes increase level of counter-regulatory hormones (e.g. cortisol, epinephrine, glucagon), activation of the inflammatory cascade, and oxidative stress [46,47]. Some infections, especially pneumonia and urinary tract infections, account for 20% to 55% of all precipitating causes of hyperglycemic crises. This relationship is of great importance for its clinical implications: 1) achieving an optimal glucose control in patients with infections may be challenging; 2) an optimal glucose control should not be underestimated and should be pursued in order to improve clinical outcome of patients with infections; good glycemic control should be ensured during the hospitalization for ABSSSI as it may favor the clinical cure; 3) the effect of ABSSSI on glucose control should be further investigated.

Considering that patients with diabetes, and in particular the elderly ones, are at risk of complications during the hospital stay (infection by MDR organism, delirium, loss of glycemic control, iatrogenic complication), a crucial goal in the management of patients with ABSSSI is to shorten hospitalization. Some patients with ABSSSIs could be safely treated as outpatients, decreasing the costs of hospitalization and increasing patients' satisfaction. One strategy favoring early discharge from hospital is represented by the sequential ivto-oral therapy. In patients with diabetes mellitus, the rate and extent of absorption of oral drugs may be impaired due to delayed gastric emptying, altered gastrointestinal motility and vascularization. Thus, the use of intravenous longacting antibiotics can provide a safe and effective therapeutic option in patients with diabetes [48,49]. Dalbavancin is a longacting antibiotic with activity against Gram-positive organisms, including MRSA, and may offer the opportunity for earlier hospital discharge in patients with diabetes affected by ABSSSIs [50].

### 7. The role of narrative medicine in treating ABSSSI in patients with diabetes mellitus

The last, but not the least, educational aspects and implementation of narrative medicine in patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs may facilitate the achievement of clinical recovery [51]. Narrative medicine is a broad-spectrum approach for addressing the emotional and sociological aspects of persons affected by disease, and other stakeholders involved (health care professionals, caregivers, and family members). In the setting of ABSSSI and diabetes, narrative medicine is crucial for achieving clinical success through a coordinated multidisciplinary approach [52]. To this extent, a close collaboration is



Fig. 1 – Risk factors for ABSSSI and poor outcome in patients with diabetes mellitus. ABSSSI: acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections, MDRO: multidrug resistant organisms, ROS reactive oxygen species.



Fig. 2 – Clinical algorithm for the management of patients affected by diabetes mellitus with ABSSSI. ABSSSI: acute skin and skin structure infections; MDRO: multidrug resistant organisms; PCT: procalcitonin.

Antibiotics	Dose adjustment for renal function	Potential adverse events	Potential drug-interaction	ns with antidiabetic agents
Vancomycin	Yes	Nephrotoxicity	None reported	
Linezolid	No	ThrombocytopeniaSerotoninergic syndrome	Metformin	Linezolid may increase the level or effect of metformin by unspecified interaction mechanism.
			Sulfonylureas	Linezolid may increase the hypoglycemic activities of glimepiride/ gliclazide.
Daptomycin Dalbavancin	Yes(Dalbavancin: requested for severe renal failure not requiring dialysis)	Increased CPK levels (daptomycin)	None reported	
Teicoplanin	Yes	Erythematous rashDrug-related fever	None reported	
Tetracycline	No	Permanent discoloration of teethGastrointestinal disordersHepatotoxicity	None reported	
TMP/SMX	Yes	Gastrointestinal disordersHematologic disorders (pancytopenia, anemia)	Metformin	TMP/SMX may increase level of metformin by basic (cationic) drug competition for renal tubular clearance (Minor interaction).
		Nephrotoxicity	Sulfonylureas	TMP/SMX increases levels of glimepiride by plasma protein binding competition
			Repaglinide	TMP/SMX increases levels of repaglinide by decreasing metabolism and by plasma protein binding competition.
Fluoroquinolones	Yes	Warning in patients at risk of AAATendon	Metformin	FQs increase effects of metformin by pharmacodynamic synergism
*		ruptureČ. difficile infectionDisorientation, agitation	Sulfonylureas	FQs increase effects of glimepiride by pharmacodynamic synergism
			Repaglinide	FQs increases effect of repaglinide by pharmacodynamic synergism.
			Acarbose	FOs increase effects of acarbose by pharmacodynamic synergism
			Pioglitazone	FQs increase effects of pioglitazone by pharmacodynamic synergism
			DPP-IV inhibitors	FQs increase effects of sitagliptin by pharmacodynamic synergism

### . . .

AAA: abdominal aortic aneurism; FQ fluoroquinolones. TMP/SMX: Trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole The following antidiabetic drugs were tested for each antibiotic: metformin, sulfonylureas, repaglinide, acarbose, pioglitazone, DPP-IV inhibitors, GLP-1 analogues, SGLT-2 inhibitors

expected between the diabetologist and infectious disease expert. Both specialists are expected to be familiar with problems regarding medical management of patients with ABSSSI and work in a coordinated manner in order to provide a multidisciplinary strategy ensuring optimal therapy and the highest probability of clinical success. Better education of physicians concerning new approaches for dealing with these patients is recommended, including increasing the ability to listen to patients in their narrative about their illness. Patient's quality of life is positively associated with a holistic caring approach, and this is feasible with a multidisciplinary approach [53].

## 8. Unmet clinical needs in ABSSSI in patients with diabetes mellitus

Table 2 summarizes the unmet clinical identified through this expert opinion paper. Further studies should elucidate the role of acute and chronic hyperglycemia in the specific setting of ABSSSI allowing to understand to which extent poor glycemic control can affect the risk and outcomes of ABSSSI. More information is needed with respect of the role of MDR organisms in ABSSSI in people with diabetes and to which extent this etiology affects patient outcomes, including morbidity, mortality, risk of re-hospitalization, and recurrence. More emphasis should be put on short and long-term outcome after hospitalization for an infectious episode [54] including rate of re-hospitalization, impact on glycemic control and quality of life. Finally, the role and efficacy of a multidisciplinary approach including infectious disease experts, diabetologists, surgeons, nutritionists, and diabetes educators remains to investigated in proper clinical studies.

### 9. Conclusions

ABSSSIs in patients with diabetes mellitus represent a peculiar clinical entity. Their management may be challenging, due to the complexity of the patient with diabetes and the diffusion of MDR organisms in hospital and community setting. A better knowledge of risk factors for ABSSSIs and predictors of poor outcome in patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs is required. Since ABSSSIs and diabetes mellitus may influence each other, a multidisciplinary approach is needed to achieve full recovery of these patients. Reducing unnecessary hospitalizations and prolonged length of hospital stay is of primary importance. This can be pursued through implementation of modern therapeutic strategies involving proper risk stratification, use of novel long-acting antibiotics, as dalbavancin, ensuring adequate glycaemic control, enhancing interaction between the health care providers and the patients, fostering a concerted team effort. In this view, the implementation of multidisciplinary teams of experts may favor safe and effective outpatient management.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests: 'MF received speaker honoraria for

able 2 – Clinical unmet needs in the field of ABSSSIs in patients w	th diabetes and proposed clinical studies.
Clinical questions	Proposed clinical studies
Which is the role of acute and chronic hyperglycemia in patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs? Which extend hyperglycemia impacts on the outcome of patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs? Which is the prevalence of severe ABSSIs caused by MDR organisms? Is MDR eitology a risk factor for poor outcome in patients with diabetes and ABSSSI? Which are risk factors for MDR eitology in patients with diabetes and ABSSSI? Does hospitalization for ABSSS impact on long term outcomes of patients with diabetes? Which is the best intervention to achieve clinical cure in patients with diabetes and ABSSSI?	Clinical study evaluating the role of acute and chronic hyperglycemia as risk factor for ABSSSI in hospitalized and non-hospitalized patients Clinical study evaluating whether hyperglycemia is an independent predictor of poor outcome in patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs Clinical/epidemiological study describing the prevalence of MDR etiology in hospitalized patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs Clinical study evaluating whether MDR etiology is an independent predictor of poor outcome in patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs Clinical study identifying risk factors for MDR etiology in an independent predictor of poor outcome in patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs Clinical study identifying risk factors for MDR etiology in patients with diabetes and ABSSSIs Clinical study evaluating long-term outcome (re-hospitalization rates, quality of life, sustained glycemic control) after a hospitalization for ABSSSI Intervention study (e.g. before/after study) evaluating the efficacy of a multifaceted intervention in patients with diabetes and ABSSSI
ARSSST acuite harterial skin and skin structure infections	

Angelini, MSD, Pfizer, and Nordic Pharma. JJM received personal fees from Astra Zeneca, Boehringer-Ingelheim, Eli Lilly, MSD, Novo Nordisk, Sanofi, Servier. JMA has received honoraria for speaking at symposia organized on behalf of Pfizer, Astellas, Merck Sharp & Dohme (MSD), Angelini, and Gilead Science and has sat on advisory boards on behalf of Pfizer, Astellas, MSD, Angelini, and Gilead Science. SDP reports grants and/or personal fees from Boehringer Ingelheim, Astra Zeneca, Novo Nordisk, Eli Lilly, GlaxoSmitheKline, MSD, Novartis Pharmaceuticals, Sanofi, Takeda. FM has participated in advisory boards and/or received speaker honoraria from Angelini, Correvio, MSD, Pfizer, Astellas, Gilead, BMS, Jansenn, ViiV, BioMerieux, Biotest, Becton-Dickinson, Nordic Pharma, Pfizer, Shionogi. All COI are outside the submitted study. All authors disclose personal fees from Ethos, during the conduct of the study.'

### Acknowledgments

All authors approved the final version of the manuscript. Ethos s.r.l. provided editorial support in the development of the manuscript. Giusy Tiseo, MD, of University of Pisa was engaged as medical writer.

### **Funding details**

The work has been carried out thanks to an unconditional contribution from Angelini.

#### REFERENCES

- DiNubile MJ, Lipsky BA. Complicated infections of skin and skin structures: when the infection is more than skin deep. J Antimicrob Chemother 2004;53(Suppl 2):ii37–50.
- [2] Pearson-Stuttard J, Blundell S, Harris T, Cook DG, Critchley J. Diabetes and infection: assessing the association with glycaemic control in population-based studies. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2016;4:148–58.
- [3] Ektare V, Khachatryan A, Xue M, Dunne M, Johnson K, Stephens J. Assessing the economic value of avoiding hospital admissions by shifting the management of gram+ acute bacterial skin and skin-structure infections to an outpatient care setting. J Med Econ 2015;18:1092–101.
- [4] Tiseo G, Mazzone A, Falcone M. Identifying patients with acute bacterial skin and skin structure infection who need blood cultures. Intern Emerg Med 2019;14:203–6.
- [5] Falcone M, Concia E, Giusti M, Mazzone A, Santini C, Stefani S, et al. Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections in internal medicine wards: old and new drugs. Intern Emerg Med 2016;11:637–48.
- [6] Itani KM, Shorr AF. FDA guidance for ABSSSI trials: implications for conducting and interpreting clinical trials. Clin Infect Dis 2014;58(Suppl 1):S4–9.
- [7] Lipsky BA, Itani KM, Weigelt JA, Joseph W, Paap CM, Reisman A, et al. The role of diabetes mellitus in the treatment of skin and skin structure infections caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: results from three randomized controlled trials. Int J Infect Dis 2011;15:e140–6.
- [8] Kim EJ, Ha KH, Kim DJ, Choi YH. Diabetes and the Risk of Infection: A National Cohort Study. Diabetes Metab J 2019;43:804–14.

- [9] Muller LM, Gorter KJ, Hak E, Goudzwaard WL, Schellevis FG, Hoepelman AI, et al. Increased risk of common infections in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Infect Dis 2005;41:281–8.
- [10] Suaya JA, Eisenberg DF, Fang C, Miller LG. Skin and soft tissue infections and associated complications among commercially insured patients aged 0–64 years with and without diabetes in the U.S. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e60057.
- [11] Giles KA, Hamdan AD, Pomposelli FB, Wyers MC, Siracuse JJ, Schermerhorn ML. Body mass index: surgical site infections and mortality after lower extremity bypass from the National Surgical Quality Improvement Program 2005–2007. Ann Vasc Surg 2010;24:48–56.
- [12] Martin ET, Kaye KS, Knott C, Nguyen H, Santarossa M, Evans R, et al. Diabetes and Risk of Surgical Site Infection: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2016;37:88–99.
- [13] Lipsky BA, Tabak YP, Johannes RS, Vo L, Hyde L, Weigelt JA. Skin and soft tissue infections in hospitalised patients with diabetes: culture isolates and risk factors associated with mortality, length of stay and cost. Diabetologia 2010;53:914–23.
- [14] Critchley JA, Carey IM, Harris T, DeWilde S, Hosking FJ, Cook DG. Glycemic Control and Risk of Infections Among People With Type 1 or Type 2 Diabetes in a Large Primary Care Cohort Study. Diabetes Care 2018;41:2127–35.
- [15] Ahmed N, Thornalley PJ. Advanced glycation endproducts: what is their relevance to diabetic complications?. Diabetes Obes Metab 2007;9:233.
- [16] Berbudi A, Rahmadika N, Tjahjadi AI, Ruslami R. Type 2 Diabetes and its Impact on the Immune System. Curr Diabetes Rev 2020;16:442–9.
- [17] Paiva CN, Bozza MT. Are reactive oxygen species always detrimental to pathogens?. Antioxid Redox Signal 2014;20:1000–37.
- [18] Shakya S, Wang Y, Mack JA, Maytin EV. Hyperglycemia-Induced Changes in Hyaluronan Contribute to Impaired Skin Wound Healing in Diabetes: Review and Perspective. Int J Cell Biol 2015;2015 701738.
- [19] Okano J, Kojima H, Katagi M, Nakagawa T, Nakae Y, Terashima T, et al. Hyperglycemia Induces Skin Barrier Dysfunctions with Impairment of Epidermal Integrity in Non-Wounded Skin of Type 1 Diabetic Mice. PLoS ONE 2016;11 e0166215.
- [20] Niu Y, Cao X, Song F, Xie T, Ji X, Miao M, et al. Reduced dermis thickness and AGE accumulation in diabetic abdominal skin. Int J Low Extrem Wounds 2012;11:224–30.
- [21] Meerwaldt R, Lutgers HL, Links TP, Graaff R, Baynes JW, Gans RO, et al. Skin autofluorescence is a strong predictor of cardiac mortality in diabetes. Diabetes Care 2007;30:107–12.
- [22] Bos DC, de Ranitz-Greven WL, de Valk HW. Advanced glycation end products, measured as skin autofluorescence and diabetes complications: a systematic review. Diabetes Technol Ther 2011;13:773–9.
- [23] ChangCH, WangJL, WuLC, ChuangLM, Lin HH. Diabetes, Glycemic Control, and Risk of Infection Morbidity and Mortality: ACohort Study. Open Forum. Infect Dis 2019;6:ofz358.
- [24] Mor A, Dekkers OM, Nielsen JS, Beck-Nielsen H, Sørensen HT, Thomsen RW. Impact of Glycemic Control on Risk of Infections in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Population-Based Cohort Study. Am J Epidemiol 2017;186:227–36.
- [25] Bianchi C, Miccoli R, Del Prato S. Hyperglycemia and vascular metabolic memory: truth or fiction?. Curr Diab Rep 2013;13:403–10.
- [26] Rajagopalan S. Serious infections in elderly patients with diabetes mellitus. Clin Infect Dis 2005;40:990–6.
- [27] Giuliano S, Rubini G, Conte A, Goldoni P, Falcone M, Vena A, et al. Streptococcus anginosus group disseminated infection:

case report and review of literature. Infez Med 2012;20:145–54. Erratum in: Infez Med. 2012;20:316.

- [28] Chua K, Laurent F, Coombs G, Grayson ML, Howden BP. Antimicrobial resistance: Not community-associated methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (CA-MRSA)! A clinician's guide to community MRSA - its evolving antimicrobial resistance and implications for therapy. Clin Infect Dis 2011;52:99–114.
- [29] Falcone M, Serra P, Venditti M. Serious infections due to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: an evolving challenge for physicians. Eur J Intern Med 2009;20:343–7.
- [30] Zilberberg MD, Chaudhari P, Nathanson BH, Campbell RS, Emons MF, Fiske S, et al. Development and validation of a bedside risk score for MRSA among patients hospitalized with complicated skin and skin structure infections. BMC Infect Dis 2012;12:154.
- [31] Stacey HJ, Clements CS, Welburn SC, Jones JD. The prevalence of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus among diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. Acta Diabetol 2019;56:907–21.
- [32] Sganga G, Pea F, Aloj D, Corcione S, Pierangeli M, Stefani S, et al. Acute wound infections management: the 'Don'ts' from a multidisciplinary expert panel. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther 2020;18:231–40.
- [33] Benavent E, Murillo O, Grau I, Laporte-Amargos J, Gomez-Junyent J, Soldevila L, et al. The Impact of Gram-Negative Bacilli in Bacteremic Skin and Soft Tissue Infections Among Patients With Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2019;42:e110–2.
- [34] Falcone M, Bassetti M, Tiseo G, Giordano C, Nencini E, Russo A, et al. Time to appropriate antibiotic therapy is a predictor of outcome in patients with bloodstream infection caused by KPC-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae. Crit Care 2020;24:29.
- [35] Falcone M, Tiseo G, Antonelli A, Giordano C, Di Pilato V, Bertolucci P, et al. Clinical Features and outcomes of bloodstream infections caused by New Delhi Metallo-β-Lactamase-producing Enterobacterales during a regional outbreak. Open Forum. Infect Dis 2020;7:ofaa011.
- [36] Falcone M, Daikos GL, Tiseo G, Bassoulis D, Giordano C, Galfo V, et al. Efficacy of ceftazidime-avibactam plus aztreonam in patients with bloodstream infections caused by MBL-producing Enterobacterales. Clin Infect Dis 2020:ciaa586.
- [37] Karmaker M, Sanyal SK, Sultana M, Hossain MA. Association of bacteria in diabetic and non-diabetic foot infection - An investigation in patients from Bangladesh. J Infect Public Health. 2016;9:267–77.
- [38] Wu M, Pan H, Leng W, Lei X, Chen L, Liang Z. Distribution of Microbes and Drug Susceptibility in Patients with Diabetic Foot Infections in Southwest China. J Diabetes Res 2018;2018 9817308.
- [39] Zhang SS, Tang ZY, Fang P, Qian HJ, Xu L, Ning G. Nutritional status deteriorates as the severity of diabetic foot ulcers increases and independently associates with prognosis. Exp Ther Med 2013;5:215–22.
- [40] Liu Y, Jing H, Wang J, Zhang R, Zhang Y, Zhang Y, et al. Micronutrients decrease incidence of common infections in type 2 diabetic outpatients. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2011;20:375–82.

- [41] Falcone M, Russo A, Cassetta MI, Lappa A, Tritapepe L, d'Ettorre G, et al. Variability of pharmacokinetic parameters in patients receiving different dosages of daptomycin: is therapeutic drug monitoring necessary?. J Infect Chemother 2013;19:732–9.
- [42] Falcone M, Russo A, Venditti M, Novelli A, Pai MP. Considerations for higher doses of daptomycin in critically ill patients with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia. Clin Infect Dis 2013;57:1568–76.
- [43] Falcone M, Paul M, Tiseo G, Yahav D, Prendki V, Friberg LE, et al. Considerations for the optimal management of antibiotic therapy in elderly patients. J Glob Antimicrob Resist 2020;22:325–33.
- [44] Zacay G, Hershkowitz Sikron F, Heymann AD. Glycemic Control and Risk of Cellulitis. Diabetes Care 2021;44:367–72.
- [45] Coppelli A, Giannarelli R, Aragona M, Penno G, Falcone M, Tiseo G, et al. Hyperglycemia at Hospital Admission Is Associated With Severity of the Prognosis in Patients Hospitalized for COVID-19: The Pisa COVID-19 Study. Diabetes Care 2020;43:2345–8.
- [46] Jang JW, Kim CH, Kim MY. Analysis of glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) level on maxillofacial fascial space infection in diabetic patients. J Korean Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg 2015;41:251–8.
- [47] Farsaei S, Karimzadeh I, Elyasi S, Hatamkhani S, Khalili H. Glycemic control in the infectious diseases ward; role of clinical pharmacist interventions. J Infect Dev Ctries 2014;8:480–9.
- [48] Turco NJ, Kane-Gill SL, Hernandez I, Oleksiuk LM, D'Amico F, Pickering AJ. A cost-minimization analysis of dalbavancin compared to conventional therapy for the outpatient treatment of acute bacterial skin and skin-structure infections. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2018;19:319–25.
- [49] Rappo U, Gonzalez PL, Puttagunta S, Akinapelli K, Keyloun K, Gillard P, et al. Single-dose dalbavancin and patient satisfaction in an outpatient setting in the treatment of acute bacterial skin and skin structure infections. J Glob Antimicrob Resist 2019;17:60–5.
- [50] Bork JT, Heil EL, Berry S, Lopes E, Davé R, Gilliam BL, et al. Dalbavancin Use in Vulnerable Patients Receiving Outpatient Parenteral Antibiotic Therapy for Invasive Gram-Positive Infections. Infect Dis Ther 2019;8:171–84.
- [51] Rosário F, Correia I, Oliveira J, Raposo J. Narrative Medicine in Diabetes—A Randomized Trial. Diabetes 2018;67(Suppl. 1). 721-P.
- [52] Banfi P, Cappuccio A, Latella ME, Reale L, Muscianisi E, Marini MG, et al. Narrative medicine to improve the management and quality of life of patients with COPD: the first experience applying parallel chart in Italy. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2018;13:287–97.
- [53] Marini MG. The languages of care in narratives medicine. Berlin-Heidelberg: Springer; 2019.
- [54] Falcone M, Tiseo G, Russo A, Giordo L, Manzini E, Bertazzoni G, et al. Hospitalization for pneumonia is associated with decreased 1-year survival in patients with type 2 diabetes: results from a prospective cohort study. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95 e2531.